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Jacob C. Reinbolt (Bar No. 138085)
Stephanie Sontag (Bar No. 109701)
Paul A. Tyrelt (BarNo, 193798)
PROCOPIO. CORY, HARGREAVES

& SAVITCH LLP
530 B Street" Suite 2100
San Diego, Califomia 92101
Telcphone: (619)23E-1900
Facsimile: (619) 235-0398

Attomeys for Plaintiffs,
BIKRAM CHOUDHURY, an individual, and
CHOUDHURY- an individual.

BIKRAM CHOUDHURY, an individual,
RAJASHREE CHOUDHURY. an
Individual,

Plaintiff.

v.

KIM SCHREIBER-MORRISON, an
individual, MARK MORRISON. an
individual, PRANA INCORPORATED, a
Califomia corporation, and DOES I
THROUGH 20,

Defendants.

IN THE TJNITED STATES DIS

FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNI.A

SOUTHERN DTVISION

Case No.: 5A02-565 DOC(ANX)

FIRSTAIVIENDEI)
COMPLAINT FOR:
(I} COPYRIGITT INFRINGEMENT;
(2} COPYRIG HT IMRINGEMENT;
(3) TRADEMARK INTRINGEMENT;
(4) TRADEMARK DTLUTION;
(9 VIOLATTON OF LATTIHAM ACT
SECTION 43(r);
(6) VIOLATION OF CALTFORNTA
BUSINESS AI{D PROFESSIONS
coDE SECTION 17200:'
(7) COMlvroN LAW UNFAIR
COMPETITION;
(8) VTOLATION OF PRIVACY
RIGHTS

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

allege as follows:

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

L This is an action for copyright infringement arising under the Copyr,ght Act of 1975,

l7 U.S.C. $$ 101 et seg., trademark infringement under l5 U.S.C. $ I I14, trademark dilution rurder

15 U.S.C. $ I125(c), as wcll as unfair competition and false advertising under the Lanham Act, 15

U.S.C. I 125(a). This Court has jurisdiction of this action under 28 U-S.C. $$ l33l , I 337, I 338(a),

1338(b) and l5 U.S.C. $ I l2l. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims
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in that those claims are so related to the federal claims that they form part of the same case or

conEove?sy.

2. This Court has personal juisdiction over the Defendants in that Defendanrs reside in

andlor are doing business in the State of Catifornia and in this Disnicl In addition. many of the acts

of infringement and unfair competition complained of hercin cccrrred in the State of Califomia and

in this District.

3. Vcnue is proper in this district undcr 28 U.S.C. $$1391 in that a substantial part of

the events or omissioDs glving rise to the claims herein occurred in this District and all Defendans

are residenrs of rhis Disuicr.

NATURE OF THE ACTION

4. This is an action for copyrigbt and trademark infringement, trademark dilution,

unfair compctition, and related state law claims brought by PlaintiffBikram Choudhury ("Bikram").

a world-renowned yoga guru who developed the unique brand of yoga known as "Bikram Yoga."

Dikram's claims arisc out of Dcfsndants' unauthorized exploitatiorr of Bikrum's copyrighted works,

senice marks, kademarks and name to promote their own yoga studio and senriccs. Plainriff

Rajashree Choudhury fRajasbree") joins Bikram in seeking relief for the unauthorized copying,

display end sale of a copyrighted video produced by Rajashree and Bikram which provides Bikran

Yoga instruction to pregnant women.

PARTIES

5. PlaintiffBikram is an individual with his principal place of business located in Los

Angeles, Califomia. Bikram is a citizen of the United States of America and a resident of Los

Angcles, California. Bilsam sometimes does business as "Bilcram's Yoga College of India.'

6. PlaintiffRajashree is an individual with her principal place of business in Los

Angeles, California. R.qiashree is a citizen of the United States of Alrsrice, and e rgsidcnt of Los

Angeles, California.

7. Defendant Kim Schrciber-Morrison is an individual rysiding in Costa Masq

California,

8. Defendant Mark Monison is an individuat rcsiding in Cosa Mes4 California.

-2-
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9. Defendant Prana Incorporated is a California corporation with its principal place of

bueinees loceed at 230 Esst l7t Street. Suite 222. Costo Mesa Califomia 92627.

10. Kim Schreiber-Morrison and Mark Morrison (together "the Morrisons") are husband

and wife. The Monisons and Frana lncorporated (together "Defendants') are in the business of.

among other things, off*ing yoga classes, including those bascd upon or derived from Bikrarn

Yoga. Defendants are also in the business of eaching of others to become yoga teachers.

Defendants sometimes do business as the "Yoga Studio."

I l. The truc narnea and capacities ofdefendants Docs I through 20, inclusivc, are

unknown to Plaintiffs, who thercfore sue said defendants by such fictitious names. As soon as the

truc namcs of Docs I through 20 havc bccn asccrtaincd, Plaintiffs will amcnd this complaint

accondingly- Plaintiffs are informed and believe and on that basis allege that Does I ttnough 20

claim an interest adverse to Plaintiffs. as hereinafter described.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

Sikram Yoge

12. Bikram is a recognieed master of yoga. In about 1971, aftcr years of research.

Bilaam discovcred and developed his unique brand of yoga known as "Bikram Yoga" (also known

as *Bikram's Basic Yoga System" or "Bikram's Beginning Yoga Class').

13. Bilcam Yoga is a proprietary and discrcte series of twenty-six (26) yoga postures and

two (2) breothing exercises, which arc always pcrformed in prcciscly thc satne ordcr, in a room

heated to l 05o Fahrenheir. The postrues and exercises are accompanied by a rigidly prescribed

series of oral instnrctions and commands. Bikram Yoga is performed for precisely ninety (90)

minutes. The very essence of Bikram Yoga is that its postures are performed in exactty the same

order, with exactly the same instnrctions and commands, in a room heated to l05o Faluenheit, in

eveRr class. The intended benefitt from Bikrarn Yoga can only bc dcrived if tlrc yoga clsss is

perfonaed precisely as Bilsam developed it.

14. In about 1971, Bikram began offering Bikram Yoga classes through his facilities at

Bikram's Yoga Collegc of India, in Los Angeles, Califomia.

- J -
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15. Bikram Yoga soon became extremely popular. Public demand for Bikram Yoga

class.s grew steadily once Bikram Yoga pntticinants realiT.ed that Bikram's unique yoga sgle and

method offered them tremendous physical. mental and other benefits. Bikrarn Yoga has become

recogruzed throughout the *'orld not only tbr its exceptional benefits, but for its distinctrve method,

style, instrucdons, and commands. There are now over 250 facilities worldwide that offer Bikranr

Yoga.

t6. As demand for Bilcam Yoga incrcased, Bitram saw the need for a rcgimented-

quality+ontrolled program designed to train others in the art of teaching the Bikran Yoga method

and sryle. Consequently, iD on or about 1994, Bikram inaugurated a Bikram Yoga Teacher Training

Course.

17. Under the Bilcrarn Yoga Teacher Training Course, individuals who desire to lead and

instnrct classes in Bikram Yoga pay a fee to Bikram. and in rehrrn receive instruction and training in

the Bikram Yoga method and styte. Thosc who successfully satisfy the high standards sct by

Bikram and master the academic and physical requirements eam their certification as teachers of
"Bilcrarn's Basic Yoga System-" Only Bikram himsclf may grant ccrtification as a Bikram Basic

Yoga System teacher.

18. Cerrified teacbcrs receive certain limited licensed rights to teach Bikram's Basic

Yoga Systen and to use Bikram's trademsrks and copyrighted works in connection therewith,

provided that they agre€ tu teach Bikram's Basic Yoga System precisely as it was taught to tbem

and to abide by strict guidelines set by Bikram with regard ro thcir stittu.ll as certificd Bikram's Basic

Yoga System teachers. Currently, prospective teachers pay S5,0O0 to attend a two (2) month

training.

l9- Bikram Yoga has become a worldwide phenomenon, and Bikram has trained and

ccrtificrl appruxirnatcly 1,600 Bikram Basic Yoga Syswrn rcacbers ln trls unlque style and merhod.

20. Bikram Yoga incorporates scveral protectable clements, each developed, and owned

exclusively, by Bikram.

21. Bikram's twenty-six (26) yoea postures together with nvo (2) breathing exercises. all

of which are always performed in the exact same strictly prescriH order in a roorn heated to 105"

4-
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Fahrenheit, differentiate Bikram Yoga from all other forms of yoga and other types of exercise. The

style, method design. and stnrcnrre of Bikram Yoga are "nique and distinctive. The Bikram Yoga

method consists of several distinct and highly recognizable features. These twenty-six (26)

distinctive po$ures aud two (2) breathing exelcises have bqiume so rJistinctivc in thc rnarketplace

of yoga classes that they havc acquircd fame and secondary meaning and therefore serve as a

designation of the source and sponsorship of this type of yoga Indee{ Bikram Yoga is so

distinctive in overall appearance, stnrcturs, format, and choreography that it is recognizable in

markeplaces througbout the world.

22. Thc Bikram Yoga rncthod, including but not limitcd to the uniquc sclcrtion,

arrangemcnt, and number of yoga poshires and brcathing exercises, together with the elernent of a

room heated to 105" Fahrenheit, cornbinc to convey a unique and distinctive overall imagc and

impression constituting a federally-protected service mark owned exclusively by Bikram (the

"Asana Sequence).

Tbc Bikrem Dhloguc, A Copyrigbtcd Work

23. ln 1971, as part of his development of the Bikram Yoga style and method, Bikram

created an original work of authorship consisting ofa series of instnrctions and commands that

accompany, and correspond to, each postur of Bikrarn Yoga (the *Dialogue'). This original work

is recited in a prccise rnanner, in thc form of a spoken dialogue, by a certified Bikram's Basic Yoga

System teocher drrring each Bikram Yoga scssion.

24. The purposes for the sirict requircment that thc Dialogue be recited in a prccise

marmer are: (a) to maintain quality control over Bikram's Basic Yoga System ginc-e the benefits of

the System will not be derived if the yoga is done incorrectly; (b) to ensurc unifonnity from teacher

to leacher and school to school in the teaching ofthe postures; and (c) to allow studcnts to focus on

improving their practice of thc Yoga sincc thc Dialogue becomes ingrained and eventually acts

almost like a "manta"

25. Bikram fixed the Dialogue in a tangible medium of expression in or about 1971.

-5-
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26. At all times since | 971. Bikram has been the owner of the coplrightable work of

authorship in the Dialogue and the U.S. copyright registation in the Dialogue, and duly possesses

all righa, title. and interest therein.

27. Bctwccn January l, l97l and thc prcacnt. Bilsam has complied with all of tfic laws

pertinent to the Dialogue as a copyrighted work,

28. On March 4,20A2, Bikrarn registered a claim for "Bikarn's Yoga College Of India

Beginning Yoga Dialogue" in the United States Copyright Office, evidenced by a Certificate of

Registration issued by the Register of Copyrigbts dated and identified as follows: "March 5,2002.

TXu-1422-657."

*Rejash ree's Pregnancy Yogl,' A Copyrighted \tork

29. As an offshoor of Bikram Yoga, Rajashrce and Bikram have developcd and marketcd

a video-taped course in Bikram Yoga designed spccificalty for pregnant women known as

*Rajashrce's Pregnancy Yoga" ("the Video").

30. The Video is on original work of authorship ond contoins matcrial wholly original to

Bikram and Rajashree, and is copyrightable subject matter under the laws of the Uniled States.

Rajashree and Bikram own all right, ritle and inrcrcst in the Vidco.

31. In or about June l, 1993, thc Video was first published under the authority of Bikram

and Rajashree, on videocasscttes recorded by Bikram and Rajashree, in strict conformity with the

provisions of the Coppight t-aws of the United States.

32' Between June l, 1993 and February 26,2002, both Bikram and Rajastree duly

complied with all of the laws pertinent to rhe Video as a copyrightcd work.

33. On February 26,2002, Bikran and Rajastree duly rcgistered a claim for the
"Rajasluee's flregnancy Yoga" video in the United States Copyright OfEce, widenccd by a

Certifieate of Registration issued by the R.egister of Copyrights deted and identified es follows:

"Febn:ary 26, 2W2, PA- l -053-335."

The Biknm Service Mgrlc And Tradcmerkr

34. Bikram owns several service marks and trademarks (collcctively, "tlr€ Marks') used

in connection with his business and Bikram yogq including, among others:

-6-
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(a) "BIKRAM YOGA";

(b) "BIKRAM'S YOGA COLLEGE OF INDIA'';

(c) *BIKRAM'S BEGINNINC YOGA CLASS";

(d) a drsign mruk of Bikram in thc spinc twisring prsc;

(e) BIKRAM'S BASIC YOCA SYSTEM; and

(f, 
ffi:::H:::::"":,"'J::,il:1ff:' 

a"'f which
35. Since at least as early as t971, Bikram has continually uscd the Marks to advertise,

Promots and markct Bikrarn Yoga classcs. Bikrarn has also uscd thc Marks for rrrorc ftrr edrx;arircnal

services, namely, conducting classes, seminars, conferences, and teacher training in Bikram Yoga

and yoga philosophy. Bikrarn owns all righs, title, and intcrest in and to the Marls.

36' Bikram has filcd applications with the U.S. Patent & Trademark Office for U.S.

rcgisration of the Marks.

The Limited License Grsnted To Kim Schreiber-Morricon

37. In or about April, 1994, Kirn Schreiber-Morrison enroltcd in Bikram's Yoga Coltege

of India Teacher Training Course for the purpose of training to become certificd to teach Bikram's

Basic Yoga System.

38- Kim Schreiber-Morrison successfully completed the three-month certification

Prograr[ at Bikram's Yoga College of Indio in Junc 1994, and thus bccamc authorized to tcach

Bikram's Basic Yoga System.

39. Bikrarn granted certain limited license rights (the "Licenseo) related to his unique

yoga style and method to Kim Schreiber-Morrison. The Liceme was conditioned rpon Kim

Schreiber-Morrison's teaching of Bikram's Basic Yoga Sy$em and usc of the Dialogtrc in shict

compliance with the woy in which shc was taught at Tcachcr Training. Thc Liccnsc includcd tbc

following rights and licelses:

(a) to teach Bikram's Basic Yoga System classes;
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(b) to publicly recitc the Dialo*eue during rhe course of teaching her Bikrarn's

Basic Yoga System classes in shict conformit.v with the methods taught to

her during her Teacher Training Course:

(c) to use the Marks for purposes of idend$ing herself as a Bikram's Basiu Yuga

System Teacher; and(d, H:'J::i:tr**:r:ffi:*,T11",",
Coursc.

40. Thc Liccrxe grantsJ to Kirn Sclucibcr-Murrixrn was limired ro a gmil of "righs und

privileges to teach Bikram's Basic Yoga Systemo' as sct fonh on Kirn Schreiber-Morrison's

certificate of completion of Teacher Training, a copy of which is attached hercto as Exhibit A.

41, It is clear from the extensiveness, rigorousness, precision, and clarity ofthe Teacher

Training Course content that the'tightr and privilcges to teach Bikram's Basic Yoga System"

constitute a very clearly delineated right to teach and promote a very clearly prcscribed fomr of

yoga The License did not confer, and Kim Schreiber-Morison did not possess, rights to do any of

the following:

(a) teach any variarions whatsoever of Bikram's Basic yoga System;

(b) use the Mnrks in connection with any variations of Bikram's Basic Yoga

System;

(c) alter the Dialog"ue in any way; or

(d) teach other persons to become certified teachers of Bikram Yoga.

42. To protect the quality of Bikram Yogo" failure ro strictly conform ro the teachings,

tenets and conditions taught by Bikrarn and learned by Kim Schreiber-Morrison during her Bikram

Yoga Teacher Troining counc would rcsult in tcrmioation of ths Liccnsc,

43. Following her certification and grant of the timited License, Kim Schreiber-Morrison

bcgan offering and teaching Bilcram Yoga classes at the Yoga Studio and othcrwise exercised her

licensed tightt, initially in apparent conformance wirh her License. As allcged bclow, hcr liccnsc

has since been terminated.
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lnfringement By Merk Morrison

44. Mark Morrison is not. and never has been. certified or licensed to teach Bikram's

Basic Yoga System.

45. Mark Morrison has and continues to use the Bikram Yoga style alrd method without

authorization from Bilcam for comrnercial purposes.

46. Mark Morrison has and continues to usc the Dialogue and dgrivations of the

Dialogue to teach Bikmrn Yoga classes and other yoga classes based upon and derived froru Bikram

Yoga

47. Mark Morrison has and continrres to use the Marks in his advertising, marketing and

promotion of Bikram Yoga classes and othcr yoga classes based upon and dsrived from Bilaam

Yoga.

Kim Schreiber-lllorrison Brcaches And Erceeds Tbe Scope Of The Llcensc

48. Defendants began offering and teaching: at the Yoga Snrdio, yoga classes that

divcrgcd Fom thc Dilsam's Dasic Yoga Systcm that Kim Schrcibcr-Morrison was scrtified to tcach.

In so doing, Kim Schreiber-Morrison breacbed her obligations under the License by altering the

Bikram's Basic Yoga System and the Dialogue in connection with her teaching.

49- In addition to the breach described in the preceding paragaplu Kim Schreiber-

Morrison exceeded the scope of the License in several respecrs. One way in which she exceeded the

scope of the License was to offer, along with Mark Morrison, unauthorizcd Bilsatn Yoga teacher

certification cources at the Yoga Studio. Defendants markcted their unsanctioned program by using

the Marks to mislead would-be yoga teachers, who believed they were receiving aurhentic

instnrction in Bikram Yoga and who paid large sums of money to Defendanrs in hopes of earning a

Bil'ram Yoga certification and corresponding licensed righs. Instead, thesc students received

education in a modificd yoga systcm, incorporating clcmcnts of thc tcgitimatc Biknm Yoga, such as

the Dialogue. As a result of this willful and bogus "certification'program, thc Yoga Studio has

produced, and still produces. unqualified yoga instnrctors who, in turn, offer and teach classes under

the specious guise of legitimate Bikram Yoga mcthod courses.

-9-
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50. Kirn Schreiber-Morrison also exceeded the scope of the License by using the Marks

to protnote yoga classes r+{rich were not actually Bilaam Yoga classes and using the Dialoguc in

connection with classes *.hich did not comport wirh the strict requirements of Bilaam Yoga.

51. Based upon her failure to satisS the condirions required ro maintain the License.

Bikram notified Defendants that the License granted to Kim Schreiber-Morrison r*'as terminated and

ordered that neither she nor her husband could hold themselves out as cenified Bikram's Basic

Yoga System teachers or "Bikram Method Teachgrs" or make further use of the Bikram Yoga style

and metlnd, the Marks or the Dialoguc.

Iufringcment By Defcnrlnntc Afler Termination Of The Licensc

52. Despite having no right, title or interest in or to the Bikracr Yoga style and method.

including the Marks or the Dialogue, Defendants continue to use the Bikrarn Yoga srle and

method and constituent components thcrcof, without the permission of Bikranr by:

(a) offering yoga classes employing *rc elements of Bikram Yoga, including the

twcnty-six (26) posturcs and two (2) btea0ring exerciscs spccifically

prescribed in Bikram Yogq but failing to utilize rhe Dialogue firlly, if at all;

(b) offering yoga classes employing elemcnrs of Bikram Yoga, including the

twenty-six (26) postrnes and two (2) breathing exercises specifically

prescribed in Bikram Yog4 but altcring the Dialogue with the addirion, or

substinrtion, of phrascs and comrnands, and/or of;fcring slassct with musis;

(c) offering yoga classes employing elemenrs of Bikram Yog4 including the

twenty-six (26) postures and two (2) brearhing exercises specifically

proscribed in Bikram Yogg but failing to super-hcat the room in which such

classes arc offered to l05o Fahrenheit, ifat all;

(d) offering yoga classes employing elements of Bikram Yog4 including the

twcnty-four (24) postures and two (2) breathing exercises specifically

prescribed in Bikram Yoga, but with the inclusion of additional postures not

authorized or endorsed by Bikram; and

(e) offering ursanctioned Bilaam Yoga teacher certification programs.

- tG
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53. Despite Bikram's termination of tbe License. and clearly without Bikram's consent.

Defendants advertise, market. and promote their unauthorized, and improperly modified, yoga

classes, as well as ttrcir purported Bikram Yoga teacher certification progarn. ttrough various uses

of the Marks- Specific instances of Defendants' infringement of the Marks includc, but src not

Iimited to:

(a) using the Marks to ofer unsanclioned Bikram Yoga teacher certification

programs;

O) using the Marks in the offering and performnnce of yoga classes based upon,

or derived &om, the euthentic Bikrem Yoge styte and method;

(c) displaying the Ma*s on the Intemet website ovmed and operated by

Defendants, located at <wwrv.hotyggastudio,com>;

(d) using the Marks in various advertising, marketing and promotional matcrial

for the Yoga Studio; and

(e) each holding himsclfor Frerself out as a "Bikram Yoga Teecher," Rnd/or a

"Bikram Certified Teacher."

54. Copies of examples of prornotional materials published and disbibuted by

Defendants which state that Defendants offer and teach'Bikram Yoga'are attached hcreto as

Exhibits B, C, D, E, F, and G and are incorporated herein as if set out in fult. A description of such

exhibits is as follows:

Exhibit B - Yoga studio websire <www.hotyogastudio.com/yogastudio.html>

describing Yoga Studio;

Exhibit C - Yoga Snrdio website <www.hotyogastudio.com/snrdios.hrrnl> describing

Bikmm Hot Yoga;

Exhibit D - Yoga Studio website <www.hotyogastudio.com/classdesc.html>

describing class descriptions including "Bikram Beginners," *Bikram

Intcrrnediate," and "Bikram Music";

Exhibit E - Yoga Snrdio website <www.horyogastudio.com/workshops.html>

describing workshops;

- t  l -
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Exhibit F' Yoga Studio website <wr,r'w.hotyogastudio.com/schedule. html>

describing yogastudios | & 2 schedulesl and

Exhibit G - Yoga Srudio brochure.

55. As a rcsult of Defendants' unauthorized uses of the Bikram Yoga style and method

and the conesponding use or modification of the elemens of the Dialogue and the Marks,

consumers secking Bikram Yoga classes are mislcd into believing the yoga programs and classcs

offered at the Yoga Studio are authentic Bikram Yoga classes, taugbt by certified Bikram Yoga

teachers.

56. As result of Defendants' alteration of the Bikram Yoga style and method, the yoga

classes offered at the Yoga Snrdio utilize several differenr derivations of thc Dialogue and are

differenl from thc Bikram's Basic Yoga System taught and licensed to Kim Sctreibcr-Morrison.

Defcndrntc Usc Of Thc Video.

57. Defendants have been engaged in the copying, disributing, marketing and selling

the Video. without authorization from either Bikram or R4jashree-

58. Dcferldants have also prcpared, used, and continue to use, distribute, market. and sell

derivative works of the Video.

I)crrands that Defendants Cease and Desist

59. Bikram has contacted Defendants, by telephone and in witing, to demand that

Defendants cease and desist all uscs of the Bikram Yoga style and method, including the Marks and

the Dialogue. Biknm further demanded that Mark Morrison cease and desist tcaching Bikram

Yuga or any yoga class based upon or derived ftom rhe Bikrarn Yoga styte and method, and

discontinue all uses of the Marks and the Dialoguc.

60- Notwithstanding this notice and Bikram's demands, Dcfendants have continued their

unlawful and infringing conduct as alleged hcrein.

61. Defendants rmlaufirl and infringing conduct has been willful and deliberate,

dcsigncd specifically tu tradc upon the goodwill associated wirh the Bikram name, copyrigha and

Marks.
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FIRST CLAIM

rOR COPYRJGHT INFRINGEMENT - DIALOGUE

17 u.s,c. $$ l0l ET sEQ.,

(By Blknn agalnst All Defendann)

62. Plaintiffs repeat and rcallege the allegations set forth in paragraphs I through 61.

above, as though firlly s* forth her€in.

63. On March 4,2002, Bilaam registered a claim for "Bikram's Yoga College Of tndia

Begirming Yogn Dialogue" in the United Sates Copyright Offrce, evidenced by a Certificate of

Registration issued bythe Register of Copyriglrts dated and identified as follows: "March 5.2002,

TXU-I-022457."

&. Defendants have infringed and continue to infringe the copyrights in the Dialogue

through subsuntial use of the Dialogue in and as part of Defendants' offering of yoga classes and

their advertising and marketing cfforts thcrcof by prcparing dcrivativc works; substantially copying;

rnfing and disributing copics; autlrorizing thc rnaking and distributing of copics; parricipatiug, in

and frrthering such infringing acts; andlor sharing in the proceeds from such infringing acts.

65. Defendants inftinging acts have been willful, intentional and purposeful, in disregard

of and indifferent to Plaintiffs' rights.

66. Bikmm is entitled to permanent injunctive reliefresraining Defendants, and their

officcrs, agcnts, and cmployecs, and all pcrsons acting in conccrt witfi thcm, from cngaging in any

furthsr such acts in violation of the copyright Laws of the United states.

67. Bikram is further entitled to recover damages, including attomeys' fees, he has

sustained and will sustain, and any gains, profits, and advantages obained by Defendants as a result

of their acts of infringement allcged above. in an amount greater than $500,000, according to proof

to bc determined at tims of trial.
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SECOND CLAIM

FOR COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT - THN VIDEO

17 U.S.C. $$ r0r ET sEg.

1By Bikram end Rajeshree egainst All Defendants)

68. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the allegations set forth in paragraphs I through 67.

above, as though fully set fonh herein.

69. ln or about June I, 1993, the Video was iirst publisbed under the authority of Bikram

and Rajashree, on videocassettes recorded by Bikram and Rajashree, in strict conformity with the

provisions of rhe Copyrighr laws of the United Sures.

70. BetweenJune I, 1993 and February 26,2002,both Bikram and Rajashree duly

complied with all of the laws pertinent to the Video as a copyrighted work.

71. On Febnrary 26,2t02,Bikram and Rajashree duly registered a claim for the
"Rajashree's Prcgrrancy Yoga" video in the United States Coppight Office, cvidenced by a

Certificate of Rcgisrrarion issued by thc Register of Copyrights dated and identificd as follows:

"February- 26, 2W2, PA. I -053-335."

72. Defendants have infringed upon, and will continue to infringe upon, the copyrights in

the Video through substanriel use of the Video in and as part of Defcndails' offcring ofyoga

classes. and their advertising and marketing efforts therefor. Defcndants infiingement with regard

to thc vidso inEludcs thc following acts:

(a) unautlrorized cbpying of the Video in whole or in part;

(b) distribution of unauthorized copies of the Vidco;

(") authorizing others to make and distributing unauthorized copies of the Vidco;

(d) sharing in the proceeds of the rmauthorized cop'"lng and distribution of the

Video.

73. The acts of infringement by Plaintiffs as described herein have bcen willful,

intentional, and purposcful, in disrcgard of and indiffercnce to Plaintiffs' rights.

74. Bikram and R4iashree are entitled to ao injunetion restraining Defendants, and their

oflicers, agents, and employees, and all persons acting in concsfi with them, from engaging in any
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further such acts in violation of the Copyright Laws of the United States.

?5. Bilaarn and Rajashree ale frxther entitled to recover damages, inclrrding. atromeys'

fees, they have sustained and will sustain, and any'uains, profits and advantages obtained by

Det'endants as a result of their acts ol'inliingement alleged above, in an amount to be determined at

time of nial.

TIIIRD CLAIM

FOR TRADEMARK T NFRINGEMENT

15 U.SC. $ l1l4 AND COMMON LAW

@y Eikrar Againrt All Dcfendants)

75. Plaintiffs rcpeat and reallege the allegations set forth in paragraphs I through 75,

above, as though fully set forrh herein.

77. Defendants violated and are infringing the common law rademark rights of Bikram-

78. Bikram's rights to the Marks are superior to any rights Dcfendants may claim in and

lo such Marks- Bikraln was the first, and senior, user of the Marks in Californig intraetete

corrunerle, and in interstate corrunerce for the applicable goods and services.

79. Defendants operate a business and advertise, trrarket, and promote yoga fitness

progams to the public, based upon, or derived from the Bikrun Yoga style and method. The yoga

fitness prognrms offered, advertisc4 and markercd by Defendants under the Marks are not acrual

Bikram Yoga method programs. Thus, Defendants are passing offtheir yoga classes as authentic

Bikram Yoga classes, originating from Defendants, rather than with Bikram.

E0. The continued marketing by Defendants under the Marks has and continrres to

adversely affect, ttreatcn and dilute thc goodwill and rcputation Bikram has built up with his

Bikram Yoga style and method.

81. Defendants' advertising, marketing, and offering of yoga fitness classes under thc

Marks has caused, and continues to cause confusion as to the sourcc and sponrcrship of thc yoga

frtncss protrarns, as well as thc Bikram Yoga tcachcr cgrtification soursrs, of Bikram and

Defendants, all to the dctriment of Bikam.

82. If not enjoined by the court, Defendants' use of the Marks in advertising marteting,
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and promotion, and offering, operation, and management of yoga classes based upon. or derived

from. rhe authenric Bikram Yoga style and methods. will continuc to cause! in addition to that

which it has alrcady caused. confusion in the marketplace and loss of sales to Bikram. as those

seeking Bikram Yoga classes are tikely to be confilsed by Defendanrs' representations regarding

their yoga fitness programs.

83. If not eqioined by the court, Defendants will continue to advertise and utilize the

Marks which thc consuming public will believe originated with Defendanb. Bikraq therefore, will

have no control overthe nature and qualrty of the Bikram Yoga classes, and Bikrarn Yoga teacher

cenification progft[ns, offered, and the information disuibured, by Defendana, nor will Bikram

havc control over the quality ofsuch Bikram Yoga classes and courses offered by Defendants, and

any fault or objection therewith will adversely affect future Bikram Yoga classes, and teacher

certifications. offered by Bikam under his Marks.

84. Defendants' infringement of the Marks, and their distribution of advertising and

marketing materials utilizing tlre Marks constiute intentional, willful, knowing, and deliberatc

trademark infrin gement.

85. Defendants' infringement of thc Marks has caused Bikmrn to suffer damages in

excsss of $500,000, and caused llefendants to profit in an amount unknown at this time, but in

excess of$500,000

TOURTH CLAIM

FOR TRADEMARK IIILUTTON

l5 U.S.C. $ l12s(c)

(By Bikram Agrinst All Defendrnts)

86. Plaintiffs r€pe8r and reallege dre allegations set forth in paragnphs I through 85,

above, as though fully set forth herein.

87. Tlrc Marks are both distinctive and famous, as set forth above.

S8, Defendang' eommercial use of the Marks as set forth above has lessened tlre

capacity of the Marks to identi& Plaintiffs' goods and services thereby diluting the distirctive

quality of the Marks.
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I
| 

*n. Plaintiffs havc notified Defendant of their rights to the Marks and the dilution
I

I resulting Som Defendant's use of the Marks- Notwithstanding aetual knowledge of Plaintiffs'
I

I trademark rights and demands. Defendant continues to do the acts complained of herein.
I

I m. Dcfendants have benefited and profited in an unknown amount from the dilution of
I
I rhe Marks as referred to above. Thc exact arnount of profits rcalized by Defendants as a result of its
I
I dilution of the Marks is unlcrown to Plaintiffs at this time and cannot be asscrtained until an
I
I
I accounting is madc, but is cstimated to excesd $500,000.
I
I

J 91. Plaintiffs havc suffered damagcs in an unknown amount from Defendants' dilution
I
I 

of thc Marks as rcfcrrcd to above. Tlrr exast arnount of Plaintiffs' darnagcs suffcrctl as a result of
I
I Defendants' dilution of the Marks is unknown to Plaintiffs at this time and cannot be accnrately
I
I
I ascertained until an accounting is made, but is estimated to exceed $500,000.
I
| 92. Pursuant to 15 U.S-C. 0 I I l?, Defendang' past conduct and continued dilution
I

I despite notice of such ditution justifies an award of treble darnages plus costs of suit and rcasonable
I
I attornev's fees.
t -
I

I rrFTH CLArM
I

I rOR VIOLATION OF LANHAM AcT sEcTIoN a3(r)
I

I tsu.s.c' g 1l2s(a)
I
I (By Bikrem AgainstAll Defendrnts)
I r

I
I 93- Plaittti$b rcpeat and rcallegc the allegations set fonh in paragraphs I through 92,
I
I above, as ftough fully set forrh herein.
I
[ 94. Defendants' ac$ 8s alleged berein conslitutc unfair competition and false advertising
I

I 
in violation of Lanham Act Section 43(a), l5 U.S.C. g I125(a).

I

I 95. The actions allcged herein amount to unfair competition and false advertising by
I
I Defendants in that Defendans' acts constitute a false designation of origin and a falsc
I
I 

representation of the nature and quality of the services provided, i.e., that the services pmvided by
I

I 
Dcfcndants arc thc sanrc as those providcd by Bikram.

I

I 
96. Defendarts' acts of unfair competition and false advertising as alleged herein are

I
lintentionally desigred to confrrse, and in fact have confused, potential customers as to the affrliation,
I
I
|  -rz-
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ation. and connection between Defendants. Bikmrn, and the Bikram Yoga method,

' acts are further intended to deceivc such customers into bclicving that the sen'ices

ided by Defendants are Defendants' with regard to both their yoga fitness classes based upon. or

ved from, Bikmrn Yoga, and thc Bikram Yoga teacher certification courses. As alleged herctn

scnrices have been, and are provided exclusively by Bikram or Bikrarn's authorized licensees.

97. lf not anjoined by the court, Defendants' acts of unfair compctition and falsc

advcrtising as allcged hercin will cause confirsion in the markeplace and loss of revenue to Bikram.

as customers are likely to confuse the services offered by Defendants, beliwing them to be

outlorized by Bikram.

98, Ifnot enjoined bythe court, Bikram is informed and believes, and ther€on alleges,

that Defendanrs will continue to utilize the Marks which the consuming public will believe

originated with ard ar,e the domain of Defendants. Bikram, thereforc, will have no control over the

nattue and quality of thc Bikram Yoga classes, and the Bikram Yoga teacher certification courses

offered and the information distributed by Defendants, and any fault or objection with such Bikram

Yoga fitness classes and courses will adversely affect fuhre revenues gencrated by Bikram under

his Marks.

99. Defendants' acts of unfair competition and falsc advertising have caused Bikram to

suffer damages of morc than $500,@0, and caused Defendants to gain pr,ofits of morc than

3500.000. Pursuant to l5 U.S.C. $ I I l7(a), Bikram is entitled to an award of monetary damages in

an arnount equal to the losses suffercd by him. and the profits gained by Dcfendants-

100- Pursuant to l5 U.S.C. $ I117(a), Bikrrrrn ic cntirlcd to an award of anorneys' fees

and costs of suit

STXTH CLAIM

FOR UMAIRCOMPETITION

cAL. BUS. & PROF. C. $$ 17200, ET SEQ.

(By Bikrrn end Rejashrce Agrinst All Defendrntr)

I 0l . Plaintiffs repeat and reallegc the allegations set forth in paragraphs I through I 00,

above, as though fully set forth hcrein.
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102. The above-described acts and conduct of Defendants constitute unlawful. unfair and

fraudulerrr acts and acts of false advertising arnounting to ufair competition in violation of

Califomia Business and Professions Code section 172W, et seq.

103. As a direct and proximate rcsult of Dcfcndants' unfait compctition, Plaintiffs arc

entitled to rccover all proceeds and other compensation rcceived or to bc rcceived by Defcndans

arising from the acts of unfair compctition alleged herein- Plaintiffs rcquest that the Court order

Defendants to render an accounting to ascertain the amount of srrch profits and compensation.

104. As a direct and proximate result of Defcndants' unfair compctitioq Plaintiffs havc

been &maged, and Defendanr h,ave been nnjustly emiched in an amount of more than $500,000.

according to proof for which restitution and/or disgorgement is appropriate.

105. Defendants' acts ofunfair competition have caused and are causing, and unless

enjoined by the Corr! will continue to cause Plaintiffs grcar and irreparable injury that cannot be

fully compensated in money. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law. Punuant to California

Business and Professions Code Secrion 172A3, PlaintiIfs are errtitled to preliminary and permanent

injunctions prohibiting further acts of unfair competition.

SEVENTH CLAIM

FOR COMMON LAW UNFAIRCOMPETITION

(By Plelntiffr agrinst All Dcfendrnts)

106. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the allegations set forth in paragraphs I thmugh 105.

above, as though fully set forth hercin.

107, The foregoing acts and conduct ofDefendants constinnc conunon law unfair

competition to the detriment of Plaintiffs and to the detriment of fair and honest competitiorr

108. As a direct and proximate rcsult of Dcfcndants' unfair compctition, Plaintiffs are

entitled to recover all proceeds and other compensation received or to be received by Defendants

arising from the acts of unfair competition alleged hcrcin. Plaintiffs request ttrat the Court order

Dcfcudants to render an accounting ro ascenain the amount of such proflts and conpensation,

109. As a dircct and proximate result of Defendants' unfair competition. Plaintiffs have

been damaged, and Defendants have been unjustly enriched in an amount subject to proof at trial for
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which rcstitution and/or disgorgement is appropriate.

I10. Defendans' acts of unfair competition have caused and are causing. and unless

enjoined by the Court, will continue to cause Plaintiffs great and irrcparable injury that carurot be

fully compensated in money. The Corrt should award pennanent injunctions prohibiting further

acts of unfair competition.

t 1 I . Through thc conduct allegcd herein, Defendanrs are guilty of malice, fraud and/or

oppression. Plaintiffs should therefore be awardcd punitivc damages in an amouil according to

proof.

EIGHTH CLAIM

FOR VIOTATTON OF PRIVASY RIGHTS

cAL. CrV. C. $ 3344 AND COMMON LAW

@y Bikran rgelnst rll Defendants)

I12. Plaintiffs repeat and reallege the allegations set ficrth in paragraphs I through I I I,

above, as though fully set forrh hcrcin.

I13. Defendants acts also violated Bikram's right to privacy under California Civil Codc

section 3344 and the common law.

I14. Defendants knowingly and without Bikram's consent, invaded Bikram's right to

privacy by appropriating Bikram's name by using Bikram's namc to advcrtise Defendants' business

so as 10 give the appeaance that Defendants' business is certified by, endorsed by, supported by,

owned by, or affrliared with Bikram.

I 15. The appropriation was without the consent of Bilsam.

I16. Copies of examplcs of promotional materials published and distributcd by

Defendants which state that Deferrdants offer and teach "Bikrarn Yoga'are attachcd hercto as

Exhibits B, C, D, E, F, and G and arc incorporated herein as if set out in full.

ll1. The appropriation by Defendants was for the purpose ol and dircctly Gonnectd to,

advcrtising and sulisiting pur,chases of Defendants' services, spccifically yoga instruction and yoga

teacher certificadon at Defendants' yoga studio.

I 18. As a proximate result of Defendants' appropriation, Bikram has suffered injury to his
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reputation and standing in the community ro his humiliation. embarrassment. menral anguish and

suffering all to his general damage in an amount according to proof.

I19. As a firther proximate result,ofthe above-described appropriation of Bikrarn's name

by Defendants, Defendants have gained commercial advantage and carned gross revenues in an

amount which cannot be ascertained at this time, but excced $500,000 and wilt be prcvcn at aial,

120- As a furtlwr proximate result of Defendants' appropriation, Bikrarn has suffcred

injury to his business in that he has lost an rurknown amount of business as a result of students

attending Defendants' studio and classes rather than studios and classes operated by Bikram and/or

Bikram-liccnscd teachcrs, thc loss of students and sales of Bikrarn's btrcks trnd services as a result

ofthe appearance that Defendants' infcrior scrvices are certificd by, endorsed by, supported bn

owned by or affiliated with Bikram. The amount of these and other spscial damages cannot be

asccrtained at this time, but exceed $500,000 and will bc proven $ trial.

l2l. The above appropriation was done with oppressioq fraud and/or malice, in tbat

Defendants continued to engage in the appropriation after being notified of Bilcram's rights and the

impropriety of their acts. Bikram therefore seeks an award of punitive damages.

122. Unless enjoined and restrained by this court, Defendants continucd appropriation of

Bikram's name will cause great and irrcparable injury in that Bikram witl continue to suffer injury

to his repulation and standing in the community to his humiliation, embarrassment, mental anguish

and suffering. Bikram has no adequate remedy at law forthe injuries being suffercd in that a

judgment of monetary darnages will not end rhe invasion of Bikram's privacy,

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs Bikram and Rajashrce pray for judgment as follows:

On the.Firrt And Sccond Chirns:

L That the Court find that Defendants have infringed Plaintiffs' sepyrights:

2. That the Court find a substantial likelihood that Defendans will continue to inftinge

Plaintiffs' copyrighto wrlcss cujviuud froru duing xr;

3. That Defendants, their directors and officers, agents, servants, employees, and all

other persons in active concert or privity or in paticipation with them, be enjoined fiom diretly or
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On the Third Throush Fiftb Claims:

l. For a permanent iniunction restraining and enjoining Defendants, and their agents-

servants, employees, and atl others in active concert or participation w'ith them, as follows:

a. From further use or infringement of the Marks belonging to Bikram. as

alleged hercin. including but not limited to the trademarks and scrvicc marks

*BIKRAI\{ YOGA,'*BIKRAM'S YoGA COLLECE OF INDIA,"

"BIKRAI\4'S BEGINNING YOCA CLASS,'the design mark of Bikram in

the spine wisting pose, "BIKRAM'S BASIC YOGA SYSTEM," and

"BIKRAM'S ASANA SEQUENCE OF 26 YOGA POSTURES." or any

other confusingly similar designation, alone or in combination with other

wordsl

b. From further advertising, marketing promoting or offedng Bikram Yoga

classes, any portion thereof, or any derivatives thereof, in concert with the

Marks;

From further acts of false advertising and unfair competition, as alleged

herein; and

d. From utilizing, registering, or maintaining any further Internet domain narnes,

websites, or Internet locations containing the Marks, including but not limited

to the <www.hotyogastudios.com> website.

2. For an order that Defendants be rcquircd to deliver up to be impoundcd during thc

pendency of this action, all advertisint, prornotional, or markeling materials or packagcs in their

custdy or control utilizing the Marks, and that such materials be destroyed upon final resolution

this action;

3. For an award of damages suffered bv Bikmrn. plus anv profits eamed by Defendants.

as a rcsult of Defendants' trademark infringement, in an amount of morc $an $500,000, according

to proof;

4. For an award of monetary damages for the acts of unfair competition and false

- ?? -
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advertising perperated by Defendants. in an amount of more then $50O.0O0. according to proofi

5. For an award of punitivc and exemplary damages in an amount to be proven at trial.

but sufficient to punish and deter Defendants: and

6. For an award of attomcys' fccs.

Ou tbe Sirth Cleim for Statutory Unfair Competition:

l. For apermancnt injunction enjoining Defendants and their agentq servants and

employees, and all such persons acting under, in concert with or for them. from continuing to

engage in the acts of unfair comp€tition alleged herein;

?. That Defendarrts diegorge all ill-gotten gains received as a result of the unlawful,

unfair and/or fraudulent busincss practiccs allcgcd hercin;

3, For restitution to Plaintiffs in an arnor:nt of morc than $500,000, according to proof;

and

4. For an order that Dcfendants' rendcr an accourting to asccrtain the amounts received

by f)efendants aq a resrrlt of the unlaufirl, unf,air andlor Faudulent business practices alleged herein.

On the Scventh Claim for Common Lew Unfair Competition:

L For a permanent injunction enjoining Defendants and their agents, servants and

employees, and all such persom acting under, in concert with or for them from continuing to engagc

in the acts of unfair competition alleged hercin;

2. That Defendants disgorge all ill-gotten gains received as a result of the unfair

compstition as alleged herein;

3. For restitution to Plainriffs in an aurourt of more than $500,0000, according ro proof;

4. For an orrder that Defendants render an accounting to ascertain the amoutts received

by Defendants as a result of the acts of unfair compctition as alleged herein; and

5. For punitive damages.

On thc Eighth C-leim for Violrtion of Privacy Righls:

l. For sratutory damages in an amount according to proof;

2- For general damages of more Oran $500,000, according to proof;

3. For special damages of more than $500,000, according to proof;
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4. For punitive damages;

5. For a permanent injuncrion enjoining Defendams and their agents, servan$ and

employeeg and all such persons acting under, in concert with or for them from continuing to use

Bikram's name in connection with advertisement and marketing of Defendants' services; and

6. For attomcys fees-

On All Claims:

l. For costs of suit incurred herein; and

2. For such other, firrther and diffcrsnt rclief as the Court deems pruper under the

crcumstances.

DATED: June 17,2002 PROCOPIO CORY HARGREAVES
& SAVITCH LLP

individual, and RIIJASIIREE CHOUDHURY, an
individual.

JURY DEMAND

Plainiffs BIKRAIV! CHOUDHURY and RAJASHREE CHOUDHURY hereby demand trial by jury

on atl issues triable to ajury.

DATED: June 17,2002 PROCOPP CORY HARGREAVES
& SAVITCH LLP

C. Rcinbolt
Sontag

A- Tyrell
ForPlaintiff,

individuel.
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